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Dear Mark,
USE OF SINGLE JUSTICE PROCEDURE IN WALES

Thank you for your letter dated 23™ October 2020, and for the recent engagement with your officials
regarding the use of the Single Justice Procedure (SJP) in the prosecution of coronavirus regulations
offences.

We understand that you have some specific concerns about the use of SJP in Wales, and whether there is
a need for it at this current time. We are grateful for your consideration of the matter but having considered
this issue in more detail, we believe there is a clear rationale for continuing to use the SJP across England
and Wales. Furthermore, this letter is to inform you that the Attorney General will be making an Order
imminently which would mean that the Crown Prosecution Service (CPS) is not obliged to take over conduct
of proceedings for all existing coronavirus regulations offences.

Rationale for the use of the Single Justice Procedure

Our view is that the SJP is the most effective tool for managing coronavirus regulations offences through
the courts system. The alternative to SJP is for cases to be prosecuted by requisition which is less efficient
for the following reasons:

e Cases can be heard on any date and any place through the SJP process; the requisition process is
less flexible as cases must be heard on a specific date in a specific court.

o The SJP process only requires one magistrate and one legal adviser working remotely proving both
cost effective and, more importantly, safer without any impact on the delivery of justice. The
requisition process is more resource intensive and costly, as it requires more than one magistrate,
an usher and a CPS prosecutor. In addition, the requisition process requires more input by the
police, and requires input by the CPS. In SJP cases, the CPS is not involved unless a defendant
pleads not guilty, or the single justice refers the case to a hearing in which CPS prosecutes;

e Each additional requisition case places pressure on the system by taking up court time and delaying
other cases. Furthermore, defendants are required to attend court for requisition hearings whilst SJP
cases can be managed remotely. This increases footfall into the courts at a time when courts are
being encouraged to conduct hearings remotely where possible due to the national lockdown
restrictions; and

e Currently, in many parts of England and Wales, a requisition case takes double the time from issuing
the charge to first hearing (c.56 days in comparison to 28 days). As requisitions tend to take longer
to be processed than single justice notices, there is a greater risk of a defendant changing address
and not receiving notice of the court hearing.
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The Attorney General previously considered making an Order to cover all existing coronavirus regulations
offences back in August but did not feel it was necessary at the time. Since that point, there have been a
number of contextual changes:

¢ The volume of FPNs had dramatically increased; there was an estimated additional 16,000 FPNs
issued over a 4-week period from December to January. This was in comparison to only 15 over the
preceding 4 weeks when the Attorney General previously considered this issue.

¢ When making her initial decision not to make the Order, the Attorney General suggested that the
CPS make arrangements to take conduct of these prosecutions under SJP, rather than the police.
However, the CPS have been unable to develop the processes and software to prosecute these
cases under SJP. This means that they would need to prosecute these cases by requisition in GAP
and N/GAP (Guilty/Not Guilty Anticipated Plea) courts.

e Police Forces, through the National Police Chiefs’ Council (NPCC), have also taken steps to address
the concerns around disproportionality and mis-charging:

o With regard to disproportionality, the NPCC have worked with the Home Office in two separate
pieces of analysis on police enforcement of the Regulations; one has been published with the
second to follow in February. The focus has been an assessment of the impact of the
enforcement activity across the community and, in particular, those from BAME communities. A
third review is also underway.

o With regard to mis-charging, the NPCC has since worked with partners to understand and
mitigate these errors. This has included hosting SJP error workshops with colleagues from the
police, HMCTS and the CPS. As a result, forces have been provided with guidance and support
and there has been an improvement in quality. In addition, many forces have embedded a third
supervisory review at all stages of the process which is helping to identify and rectify errors.

As a result of the above, the Attorney General will now make the Order, meaning that the CPS would not
be obliged to take over conduct of proceedings for existing coronavirus regulations offences, allowing them
to be prosecuted through the Single Justice Procedure (SJP). This enables the police to prosecute the case
to a conclusion.

Current situation in Wales

The way the courts in Wales have adapted and responded to this challenging situation is undoubtedly a
success; however significant challenges remain. In order to maintain current performance a monumental
ongoing effort is required, and we are pleased that everyone is playing their part. Many hearings are now
conducted remotely in order to reduce footfall in buildings; introducing a large number of defendants into
any courthouse would create additional unnecessary risks. It is not the case that these cases could be listed
in a court without other work having to be delayed.

Your letter noted that it is essential for the public to have confidence in the consistent, fair and effective
enforcement of coronavirus offences. In particular, you highlighted that coronavirus related regulations
made in Wales permit any individual with a reasonable excuse to lawfully undertake actions that would
otherwise be an offence. It is correct that defendants in coronavirus cases have a defence of reasonable
excuse. However, they are informed of that fact as the charge in the single justice notice states expressly
that the defendant has breached a restriction (etc) without reasonable excuse. Defendants are thus alerted
to the defence and are also advised of their right to plead not guilty. It is also important to note that it is not
possible to compel the attendance, nor enforce the appearance, of a defendant whether cases are
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